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IN THE UNI'IED STATES BANREUprc¥ COURT

FOR TEE DISTRICT OF UTAH

CENTRAL DIVISION

In re:

DALE LOWELL LARSON,

Debtor.

:   Bankruptcy Number 928-26851

[Chapter 7]

STEPHEN W. RUPP,
Trustee,

Plaintiff,

V.

DALE LOWELL LARSON,

Defendant.

:   Adversary Prceeeding Number
93PB-2034

JUDGRENT DENYING DISCHARGE

The Plaintiff herein filed a complaint seeking denial of the Defendant's discharge

pursuant to  11  U.S.C.  § 727(a)(2),  (3)  and  (4).    The court considered  the  credibility of the

witnesses and the evidence presented, the arguments of counsel, and made an independent review

of applicable case law.  Having entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of I,aw dated January

27,  1994, it is hereby
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ORDERED,  ADJUDGED  and  DECREED,  that  the Defendant,  Dale  Lewell

I.arson, is herchy denied a discharge pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 727(a)(2),11 U.S.C.  § 727(a)(3),
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IN TEE uNIThD STATES BANKRuprcy CoURT

FOR TEE DISTRICT 0F UTAH

CEr`ITRAL DIVIsloN

In re:

DALE LOWELL LARSON,

Debtor.

STEPHEN W. RUPP,
Trustee,

Plaintiff'

V.

DALE LOWELL LARSON,

Defendant.

Bankruptcy Number 928-26851

[Chapter 7]

Adversary Proceeding Number
93PB-2034

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

This is a denial of discharge proceeding brought by the chapter 7 trustee pursuant

to  11  U.S.C.  §  727(a)(2)(A)@),  (3)  and  (4).    The issues  are  whether  the Defendant's  prel

petition transfer of his interest in his home, his failure to list any assets other than clothes and

tools in his schedules, and his failure to either keep recorded information or turn over recorded

information to the trustee,  should result in denial of his discharge.
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Trial was held during which the court had the opportunity to view the demeanor

of the witnesses and evaluate the evidence.   The matter was taken under advisement and the

court has now considered the evidence adduced at trial, the arguments of counsel and has made

an independent review of appficable case law.  Based upon the totality of the evidence as applied

to the relevant law,  the court concludes that the Plaintiff has met his burden of proof and .the

Defendant's discharge is denied.    The circumstances of the case and rational  for the court's

decision are as follows.

FINDINGS OF FACT

TEE PARTIES

1.         The Defendant, Dale I,owell I.arson (Defendant) is a Debtor before this

court pursuant to his pro sc filing of a Chapter 7 petition on October 26,  1992.

2.          The plaintiff, Stephen w.  Rupp Q'laintifD is the Trustee duly appointed

for the Chapter 7 estate of the Defendant.

3.          Grethe harson is the Defendant's wife of twenty seven years (collectively

the hasons).

4.          On November 9,1992, the Defendant executed under penalty of perjury

and  filed  with  the  court  his  Statement  of  Financial  Affairs  a]inancial  Statement)  and  his

Bankruptcy Schedules A through J (Schedules).

5.         The  First  Meeting   of  Creditors  was   conducted  by  the  Plaintiff  on

November 30,1992,  pursuant to  11  U.S.C.  §  341.I

I       Future references are to Title ll of the united states code unless indicated.
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Tin REAL PROPERTY

6.         The harsons jointly acquired real property and built a home at 4845 South

3600 West, Salt Iake City, Utah (the Real Property), over twenty years ago.   The Defendant

and Grethe harson reside in the Real Property and have done so for over twenty years.   The

I.arsons held joint title to the Real Property until 1987.

7.         The larsons have continuously lived in and raised their finily in the Real

Property from the time of its acquisition and construction until the present.   The harsons have

had the co-ntinuous use, possession,  benefit,  enjoyment and control of the Real Property from

its acquisition and construction until the present.   The ILarsons' use, possession, enjoyment and

control of the Real Property has not changed since the acquisition and construction of the Real

Property.

8.          The I.arsons have always and continuously serviced the first mortgage debt

now owed to Chase Home Mortgage secured by the Real Property.   The I,arsons have always

and continuously paid the real property taxes accruing  on the Real Property.   They have also

paid all premiums for insurance on the Real Property and the homeowner's insurance policies

show the I.arsons to be the parties insured.   The I.arsons' income has been the source of funds

to service the debt, pay the taxes and the insurance.

9.          The I.arsons have always and continuously claimed a deduction on their

tax returns for interest paid on debt secured by the Real Property.  The I.arsons have always and

continuously claimed a deduction on their tax returns for real property taxes paid on the Real

Property.
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L & L Vma

10.       In  or around  1984,  the Defendant and  his  son-in-law,  Robert Lucking

a,ucking),  commenced or expanded a business known as L & L Wire.   L & L Wire was a

partnership of the Defendant and Lucking as indicated by the Certificate of Partnership executed

by the Defendant.

11.       The  business  required  the  use  of  an  expensive  piece  of  equipment.

Lucking and L & L Wire could not acquire the equipment through either a lease or a purchase

on their own financial standing.  The acquisition of the equipment required the financial backing

of the hasons.

12.       The  Defendant  guaranteed  the  full  performance  of  the  lease  of  the

equipment from  P.F.C.,  Inc.  Q'FC),  a lease broker.    The I.arsons  also gave a deed of trust

describing the Real Property to secure performance on the lease of the equipment from PFC.

PFC  subsequently  assigned  the  lease  and  related  documents  to  Overland  Thrift  &  Loan

(Overland).

13.        The  signature of the Defendant on  the deed  of trust is not his.    Grethe

IIarson  signed the Defendant's name to the deed of trust without his authority.   Grethe harson

has  maintained  and  still  maintains  that  her  obligation  and  pledge  of the  Real  Property  was

obtained through fraud.

14.       L & L wire faded and L & Lwire, Lucking and the Defendant defaulted

in their performance under the equipment lease.   Overland commenced proceedings to exercise

the power of sale under the deed of trust on the Real Property by recording a Notice of Default

and Election to Sell on January 23,  1987.
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15.       The I.arsons  retained Royal  K.  Hunt  alunt),  an  attorney then  in  good

standing, to defend them and to address the issues arising from or relating to Overland's claim.

Hunt retained Morris Meyers Q4eyers) to perform contract legal work for Hunt on the I.arsons'

case.  Meyers is legally trained, having practiced law until 1973 or 1974.  Meyers was convicted

and sentenced to jail for improper financial dealings and his license to practice law was and is

revoked.

16.       As a result of his contract with Hunt, Meyers has performed essentially

all or a significant portion of the legal work in the I.arsons'  case relating to these matters since

1986.  He has also prepared almost all the plcadings filed in various courts, except the execution

of legal pleadings and appearances for and on behalf of the I.arsons in court.   Meyers directly

helped the Defendant in filing this pro sc bankruptcy.   He prepared the Financial Statement,

Schedules and exhibits.   Meyers performed legal research and dealt with the legal issues related

to  the deed  of trust.    Meyers  has also directly helped  the Defendant in  the prosection  of his

defense and in discovery in this adversary proceeding.

OVERLAND SETTLEMENT AND TRANSFER

17.       Meyers testified that the harsons sought to settle with overland by offering

to pay  $35,000,  the amount Meyers  had  calculated  was  owing,  to  Overland.    The I.arsons,

however,  did not have access to the necessary  funds.   Meyers allegedly contacted a client of

Hunt's,   Systematic Builders, Inc. (Systematic Builders), who agreed to provide a line of credit



up to  $35,OcO for the Iarsons'  use.    Meyers  testified  that he worked  out the arrangements

through his comeedon, hdike I.arsen, the president of Systematic Builders.2

18.        Systematic Builders  at all  relevant times,  and  from  1982  to  1991,  was

Hunt's client.   Meyers provided contract legal services to Hunt related to the case or cases of

Systematic Builders.

19.         Mauri Meyers, the son of Morris Meyers, was a seeretaryITreasurer and

otherwise affiliated with Systematic Builders.

20.       In January of 1987, the I+arsons conveyed the Real property by waranty

deed dated January 21,1987, to Systematic Builders.   The transfer occurred before any sale of

the Real Property pursuant to Overland's exercise of its power of sale and before any judgment,

and just before the I.arsons commenced litigation with Overland.   The walTanty deed, notarized

by Hunt, was recorded on February 5,  1987.

21.       At the time of the transfer,  the Real Property was worth approximately

$80,000  and   the  I+arsons   had   encumbered   the  Real  Property   by   a  trust  deed   note  of

approximately $15,OcO.   The resulting equity transferred by the warranty  deed was  $65,000.

The Real Property was the Iarsons'  sole valuable asset at the time of transfer.   The ljarsons

remained liable on the deed of trust owed to Chase Mortgage after they had transferred away

their interest in the Real Property.

22.       The Defendant was insolvent before or became insolvent at the time of the

transfer of title to the Real Property to Systematic Builders.

2       Although the spelling of the last name is similar,  Mike lnrsen apparently is not related to the

Defendant or Grethe Lerson.
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23.       The I.arsons'  depositions were taken in  1989.   At that time the harsons

did  not  know  what  Systematic  Builders  was.     They  did  not  know  who  the  principals  of

Systematic Builders were.   The larsons transferred the property to Systematic Builders due to

a  transaction  arranged  and  recommended  by  Meyers,  and  pursuant  to  Hunt's  instructions.

Meyers or Hunt, or both, seleeted Systematic Builders as transferee.

24.       Since his initial responses to examination, the Defendant now states that

the larsons have met and discussed the matter.   They now recall that the transfer of the Real

Property was in anticipation that Systematic Builders had credit or funds available with which

a settlement might be paid to Overland, if a settlement could be reached.

25.       Both  the Defendant and  Grethe I.arson  have previously  stated  that they

transferred legal title to Systematic Builders solely at the recommendation of Hunt.

26.       The court received  a copy of the walTanty  deed in evidence.   Although

Hunt notarized the warranty deed, and Meyers coordinated the transaction, no other dcouments

were received  into evidence regarding  the alleged line of credit with  Systematic Builders,  its

terms or conditions of advancing funds, or any proposed repayment terms.

27.       The  I.arsons  never  achieved  a  settlement  with  Overland.    Nor  did  the

IjITsons  receive  any  funds  or other  consideration  from  Systematic  Builders  in  exchange  for

transfer of the Real Property.   The I.arsons never drew on any line of credit.

28.       Despite the conveyance of the Real property by warranty deed, the I.arsons

did not provide Systematic Builders with the possession,  use, benefit, enjoyment or control of

the Real Property.   Systematic Builders has never paid any of the taxes on the Real Property or

made any of the insurance premium payments.   Systematic Builders has never serviced any debt

7
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secured  by  the  Real  Property.    The  Defendant,  Grethe  I.arson,  and  their  funily  have  the

exclusive use, possession, enjoyment, benefit and control of the Real Property.

29.       Systematic Builders has never reconveyed the property back to the I.arsons.

STATE C0uRT LrrlGAHON

30.       The harsons commenced a state court proceeding against overland in May,

198] , styled Dale L. Iid:rson, Grethe liarson, and Systenra:tic Builders , lac. , a Utah Corporation

v.  OverJand, c/ aJ. , Case No. C87-3405, Third Judicial District Court, Salt I.ake County, State

of Utah.    The  Ijarsons  commenced  the proceeding  in  an  attempt  to  restrain  Overland  from

exercising its power of sale under the deed of trust and to dispute Overland's claims by alleging

fraud.    Hunt,  with  the  assistance  of Meyers,  represented  both  the  I.arsons  and  Systematic

Builders in the litigation.

31.       The court denied  the I.arsons'  attempt to restrain  or enjoin  overland's

exercise  of the  power  of sale  under  the  deed  of trust.    As  a  result,  Overland  conducted  a

Trustee's sale on May 27,  1987, at which sale, Overland credit bit approximately $52,000.  The

state court action subsequently evolved into claims and counterclaims between Overland and the

I,arsons.   The allegations concerned  fraud and liabilities under and related  to the lease of the

equipment, the guaranty and the balance of Overland's claim.

32.        The initial complaint filed in  state court listed  Systematic Builders as  a

plaintiff along with the Ijarsons.   The complaint did not disclose Systematic Builders'  interest

in the Real Property.   After Hunt and Meyers amended the complaint for a fourth time so that

it sufficiently  stated  a claim  for relief,  Overland brought a motion  for summary judgment to

dismiss  Systematic Builders  as  a plaintiff.    The plaintiffs did  not present  sufficient evidence

8
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regarding Systematic Builders' interest in the Real Property and the court dismissed it from the

litigation.

33.       Deapite, and subsequent to, the transfer of the title to the Real property

to Systematic Builders, Dale and Grethe larson have admitted ownership of the Real Property.

The Ijarsons admitted ownership of the Real Property in depositions taken in  1989 in the state

court litigation.   They have also pursued causes of action based upon their standing as owners

of the Real Property.

34.       Overland   counterclaimed   to,   among   other   things,   realize   upon   the

Defendant's guaranty of L & L Wire's debt.   Eventually the parties resolved all the claims for

relief through summaly judgment.   The court also rendered judgment against the Defendant in

favor of Overland on his fallure to perform on his guaranty on May 14,1990, for $101,624.45.

35.       The Defendant listed this state court judgment as an  unsecured  claim in

his Schedules filed on November 9,  1992, but it was not designated as a contingent,  disputed

or unliquidated claim.   On August 2,  1993, the Defendant filed an unswom amendment to his

Schedule  F  that  listed  the judgment  obtained  by  Overland  as  "void",  and  scheduled  it  as

contingent, disputed and unliquidated.

36.       The state court'sjudgments were appealed.  The appellate court upheld the

judgment against the Defendant on his failure to perform on his guaranty, but reversed on Grethe

I.arson's claims for fraud and remanded for trial.

37.       After  the  appellate  court  remanded  the  matter,  Overland  learned  that

Systematic Builders had a recorded interest in the Real Property.   It filed a quiet title action that

was to be heard with Grethe Iarson's fraud action.   At the date of trial in May of 1993, Grethe

9
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I+arson was not prepared to go forward.   Overland moved for and the court granted summary

judgment, quieting title in the Real Property and disndssing Grethe Ijarson's fraud claims.  The

state court has not granted a final order.3

38.       The  more Credible  evidence  shows  that  the  amount  of the  state court

judgment on the guaranty is calculated appropriately and is not in conflict with the liquidated

damages portion of the lease.

39.       The testimony that the Defendant intended to transfer his interest in the

Real Property in exchange for a line of credit from Systematic Builders to settle with Overland

is  not  credible.     The  Defendant  transferred  his  interest  in  the  Real  Property  because  of

Overland's attempt to foreelose upon the property.   The Defendant exeeuted the warranty deed

to Systematic Builders just two days before Overland recorded its Notice of Default and Election

to  Sell. .  Systematic  Builders  recorded  the  warranty  deed  within  two  weeks  after  Overland

commenced to exercise its powers under the deed of trust.   Systematic Builders did not transfer

the Real Property back to the Defendant after Overland rejeeted the I,arsons'  settlement offer

of $35,OcO and the Defendant no longer required a line of credit from Systematic Builders.

ACTIONS SUBSEQUENT TO JUDGMENT

40.        Systematic Builders.was involuntarily dissolved on July 1 ,1990, for fallure

to file its annual report.

3       0verland's  interest  in  the  hitigation  is  now held  by  the  Resolution  TrList  Corporation,  which
organization is in the process of deterznining how it wishes title to appear in thejudgment.  Therefore, the pleedings
reflecting the court's ruling have not, as of the date of this trial, been presented to the state court.

10
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41.       Meyers has been in contact with Mike larsen, the president of systematic

Builders, both before and after the involuntary dissolution of Systematic Builders.   Cue of the

subjects of Meyers' contact with Mike I+arsen was concerning the legal title and transfer of the

legal title to the Real Property.

42.       On  or  about  January  8,   1991,  Meyers  prepared  a  quitclaim  deed  to

accomplish the transfer of legal title to the Real Property from Systematic Builders to another.

Grethe  harson  directed  Meyers  to  make  David  Iarson,  the  brother  of the  Defendant,  the

transferee of the quitclaim deed.

43.       Pursuant  to  the  request  or  instructions  of  Meyers,   Mike  I.arsen,  as

President of Systematic Builders,  received the quitclaim deed in California,  executed it dating

it January  8,  1991,  and returned it to Meyers.   Meyers then notarized the quitclaim deed and

recorded it on March 27,1991.

44.       No consideration evidenced by a writing or the transfer of funds passed

to  Systematic Builders  from  David  I.arson  for the quitclaim  deed.    Except for the quitclaim

deed, there is no writing concerning the transfer from Systematic Builders to David I.arson.

45.       The Defendant testified that he now enjoys a line a credit from his brother,

David I.arson.   There is no writing concerning the second line of credit between the Defendant

and David I.arson.  There is no evidence that the Defendant has ever drawn on the line of credit.

The Defendant's testimony that he has a Hne of credit with David I,arson is not credible.

46.       The Defendant's testimony regarding the alleged line of credit with David

I.arson is evidence of the Defendant's knowledge of the transfer of the title to the Real Property

from Systematic Builders to David I,arson.

11
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BOOKS AND RECORDS

47.       Except for a copy of the deed to systematic Builders the Defendant did not

respond  to the Plaintiff s broad discovery requests  for dceuments related  to  the Defendant's

assets, income or transactions.  On November 30, 1992, the Trustee issued a directive ITrustee's

Directive) which was admitted into evidence as Trustee's Ewhibit 15.  Among other dcouments,

the  Trustee's  Directive  instructed  the  Defendant  to  turn  over  all  books  and  records  to  the

Trustee.   The Defendant did not produce any books or records to the Trustee.   The Defendant

also produced nothing in response to the Plalntiff's Subpoena issued March 8,  1993, setting forth

a list of documents to be produced in relation to the Defendant's deposition scheduled for March

30,   1993.4    The  request  included  dcouments  related  to  the  I.arsons'  dealings  with  L  &  L

Wiring,  Overland,  David I.arson and Systematic Builders.

48.       The Trustee obtained copies of the title to Defendant's 1986 GMC-4 wheel

drive  pickup  and  an  unsigned  Promissory  Note  dated  November  30,   1991  because  these

dceuments  were  attached  to  Defendant's  Interrogatories  and  Requests   for  Production  of

Dceuments filed with the court on March 4,  1993.  The unsigned Promissory Note shows a debt

.owed by  the I.arsons  to Douglas  and  Susan  I.arson  in  the principal  amount of $8,500.    The

Defendaht did not provide either the title or the Promissory Note to the Trustee in response to

the Trustee's discovery requests or the Trustee's Direetive dated November 30,  1992.

49.       The Defendant is a house painter by trade and practices.his craft under the

name of Dale I.arson  Painting.   The Defendant's Financial Statement filed with the court and

I       See plaintiffs Exhibit l6, the deposition subpoena of March 30,1993.
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exeeuted under penalty of pejury, discloses that the Defendant's year-tordate income for 1992

was $35,721; that his income for  1990 was $74,010.32;  and for  1991  was $53,770.44.   The

income listed  in  the Financial  Statement for  1990 and  1991  is inconsistent with  the Iarsons'

personal tax returns.   It reflects instead, the amount of gross receipts or sales aine la) listed on

the partnership tax returns for Dale Ijarson Painting for the respective tax years.   The I.arsons'

individual tax returns reflect gross income for 1990 of $31,844.90, and gross income for 1991

of $25,985.08.

50.       The  testimony  of  the  Defendant  and  Grethe  ILarson  also  contradicts

Defendant's Financial Statement.   The Financial Statement reflects that Defendant earned  his

highest  level  of income in  1990.    Yet,  both  Defendant  and  Grethe  I.arson  testified  that the

Defendant made substantially less income in 1990 than other years because he broke his leg and

was una.ble to work.   The Defendant noted this fact on the bottom of the first page of his tax

return  for  the tax  year  1990,  stating  "Income  low  as  partner  broke  leg  did  not  work  for  5

months".

51.       Dale  I.arson  Painting  is  characterized   as  a  partnership  between   the

Defendant and Grethe I.arson in partnership tax returns filed with the Internal Revenue Service

in 1991  and  1992, for the tax years 1990 and  1991, respectively.   The Defendant argues that he

only effected the partnership style for future retirement tax benefits and is not ,a partnership in

any other sense of the term.   The evidence shows, however, that Grethe I.arson participates in

his business,  including the receipt of regular draws.   Both  the Defendant and  Grethe ILarson

benefit from the income of Dale I.arson Painting.   On the Kl forms attached to the tax returns,

13
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the I+arsons show that 50% of the partnership income is anocated to the Defendant and 50% is

allocated to Grethe larson.

52.       Grethe harson earned income from  1962 to  1966 from Beneficial Life,

both before and after her marriage to the Defendant in January,  1965.   Grethe larson earned

income from  1966 to  1968  from John Wiley &  Sons.   Beginning in  1968 and  continuing for

approximately ten years she was a homemaker and did not enjoy a source of income outside the

home.  From approximately 1991 until the present she has worked one day a week for her sister-

in~law, and has received a partnership draw from revenue of Dale I.arson Painting.

53.       The  1990 partnership  tax  return  for Dale I.arson  Painting  shows  gross

receipts  of  $74,010.32,  total  itemized  deductions  of  $14,337.72,  with  ordinary  income  of

$31,772.79.   The Iarsons'  1990 personal tax  returns  show total income of $31,844.90,  total

itemized deductions of S lo,657. 35, with taxable income of $ 10,142.27.  Cumulatively, sufficient

reeordation  of business  and  personal  income  and  expenses  were  available  so  that  the  gross

business income of $74,010.32 was reduced to taxable income of $10,142.27.

54.        The  1991  partnership  tax  return  for Dale Iarson  Painting  shows  gross

income  of  $53,770.44,  total  itemized   deductions  of  $8,487.84,  with  ordinary  income  of

$23,135.99.   The larsons'  1991  personal  tax returns  show  total income of $25,985.08,  total

itemized deductions of $10,126.94, with taxable income of $4,757.20.   Cumulatively, sufficient

recordation  of business  and  personal  income  and  expenses  were  available  so  that  the gross

business income of $53,770.44 was reduced to taxable income of $4,757.20.
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55.       Analysis of the larsons' tax returns in this manner produces results wholly

inconsistent  with  the  Defendant's  testimony  that  he dces  not  keep  books  or  records  of his

business or personal transactions.

56.       Further inconsistencies exist between the larsons'  Schedule A-Itehized

Deductions  filed  with  their  tax  returns  for  1990  and  1991,  and  the  Defendant's  Financial

Statement and Schedules signed under penalty of periury and ffled with this court.  The I.arsons'

tax   returns   include   deductions   for   charitable   contributions,   including   a   1991   charitable

contribution  of over  $4,4cO.    In  addition,  Defendant's  budget  contained  in  Schedule J  lists

payment  of  $300  per  month  for  charitable  contributions.    Although  item  7  on  Defendant's

Financial Statement requires disclosure of all gifts or charitable contributions made. within one

year  before  bankruptcy,   the  Defendant  has  not  disclosed  the  payment  of  any  charitable

contributions.

57.       The partnership tax return for Dale I.arson painting filed in  l99l for the

tax  year  1990  shows  a depreciation  deduction  of $468.04  for undisc]osed  hard  assets.    The

depreciation deduction indicates the partnership owned assets of value that may, in turn,  have

resulted in a positive value of the Defendant's partnership interest.  Nevertheless, the Defendant

did not fist his partnership interest at paragraph  13 of his Schedule B-Personal Property.

58.         There is no credible evidence that the Debtor's method of operating his

business, his business income and expenses,  or his personal income and expenses have changed

from  1990 and  1991  to the date of the filing of this petition.

59.         The amount of detail contained in the I.arsons' tax returns shows that the

Ijarsons kept business records in order to complete the returns, despite the Defendant's testimony
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to the contrary.   The Iarsons'  personal tax returns for  1990 and  1991  evidence a pattern of

deductions for medical and dental expenses.   The court finds that the Defendant kept at least

some records  in  order  to  compile these  expenses,  as  weu  as  the other  itemized  deductions

included  in  the  tax  returns.    In  addition,  the tax  returns  show  that  the Defendant used  the

services of a bookkeeper,  Guy Kimball of Guy Kimball Customized Bookkeeping,  to prepare

his tax returns.    'The Defendant also disclosed in  his Financial Statement that he utilized  the

services  of Guy RImball to supervise the keeping of his books and records.5   The totality of

these circumstances leads the court to find that Defendant kept books and records.

60.         Revenue  from  Dale  I.arson  Painting  received  by  the  Defendant  is

deposited in an account in Grethe I.arson's name, along with Grethe ljarson's income from her

one-day-a-week employment, and her partnership draws from Dale I.arson Painting.   From the

account,. Grethe I.arson pays the family bills.   The Defendant uses his income to pay ordinary

recurring  family  expenses  such  as  utilities  and  mortgage  payments  on  the  I.arsons'.  Real

Property.    Grethe I.arson  uses  her income to purchase what personalty the couple uses.    No

separate records  are  maintained  regarding  the allocation  of funds between  the Defendant and

Grethe I.arson.

61.       The Defendant has never provided the plalntiffwith the books and records

relating to the account maintained by Grethe I.arson, though the Defendant agreed to produce

these dceuments.   In response to the Trustee's Directive, the Defendant prepared and produced

to the Plaintiff an amended Financial Statement.   It consisted of four handwritten sheets listing

5       See  Tnistee's  Exhibit  17.    The Dchtor listed  Guy  Kimball  as  his  bookkeeper in  the amended

Financial Statement that the Debtor prepared for the Trustee, but did not file with the court.
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to October 26,  1992, the one year period prior to commencement of the bankruptcy case.6  The

Defendant did not sign the amended Financial Statement and it was never filed with the court.

62.       The Defendant admits that a complete and detailed financial record of his

business and personal activities for all relevant times was always available for production by the

Defendant, Grethe Iarson, and the harsons' accountant.   However, the Defendant states in his

Objeetions to Plaintiff's Pre-Trial Ord.er ffled on August 2,  1993 and in his Proposed Findings

of Fact  and  Conclusions  of I.aw  filed  on  September  7,   1993,  that  the  Defendant  withheld

voluntary production of his financial records as an incentive to the Plaintiff to comply with the

Defendant's discovery requests.

THE DEFENDANT'S OTHER INIREST IN PROPERTY.

63.       The Defendant did not list in his schedules any legal or equitable interest

in the Real Property, or any debt related thereto.

64.       As  of the  date of the  Defendant's  bankruptcy  petition,  he listed  in  his

Schedules as the only and sole property the following:   wearing apparel having a value of $25;

an interest in an irrevocable spendthrift. thrust of which the trustors are one of the Defendant's

brothers and his wife; and certain tools and painting equipment having a value of $250.

65.       At the time of the First Meeting of creditors,  the Defendant indicated,

under oath,  that all  household  goods and  furnishings,  all  of which  were acquired  during  the

harsons'  marriage, were owned by Grethe I.arson.

6       See Trustee's Echibit 17.
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66.       The Defendant's testimony at trial that Grethe harson dces not let him use

personalty in the Iarsons' home, except the couples' bed, is not credible.

67.       In  November  1991,  the Defendant bought a  1986  GMC  4-wheel drive

pickup that was financed by his brother, Douglas I.arson.   Defendant testified that the purchase

price of the pickup truck was $8,500.   The Defendant drives,  uses,  possesses and enjoys the

1986  GMC 4-wheel drive pickup..   Grethe I.arson is the sole titled owner of the pickup and

Douglas I.arson is the fisted lienholder.  The 1.arsons make the dcht payment from their income.

Defendant testified  on  direct examination by the Trustee that the outstanding  debt owed  was

$7,OcO and the valued of the pickup was $8,000 at the time of his First Meeting of Creditors.

On' cross-examination,  the Defendant stated that the debt owed was $8,100 and the value was

$7,7cO, explaining that the prior valuation was a guess he made at the time of the First Meeting

of Creditors.    The debt owed by Defendant and the original purchase price of the pickup is

consistent with the unsigned Promissory Note dated November 30, 1991, that shows a debt owed

by  the  I.arsons  to  Douglas  Iiarson  and  his  wife,  Susan  Ijarson,  in  the  principal  amount  of

$8,500.7  Defendant never modified his Schedules to reflect the debt owing to Douglas harson

on the pickup, or the obligation reflected on the Promissory Note owed to Douglas and Susan

hason.

68.        On August 2,1993,  the Defendant filed an amended  Schedule C to his

Schedules that attempted to claim an exemption in the 1986`GMC.   The Defendant has not filed

7       A copy of the promissory note was introduced into evidence as Tnistee's Exhibit 13.
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an  amendment to  list the  1986 GMC as  an  asset or to list the corresponding  dcht to either

Douglas larson or Susan I.arson.

69.       Only after the First Meeting of creditors, and only pursuant to a Trustee's

directive, did the Defendant disclose that the I.arsons are each one-half owners of the partnership

known as Dale Larson Painting.   The Defendant answered  "none" to the questions set forth in

Schedule 8, Item 13, that required disclosure of all interests in partnerships.  The Defendant has

never filed an amended Schedule 8 with the court.

70.       Only  after  the  First  Meeting  of  Creditors,   and  only  pursuant  to  the

Trustee's  directive,  did  the  Defendant  answer  Questions  16  through  21  of the  Defendant's

Financial Statement.   The Defendant left these items blank in the Financial Statement filed on

November  9,   1992.     Although  Plaintiff s  Exhibit  17  contains  the  Defendant's  answers  to

questions 16 through 21, the Defendant never filed these purported amendments with the court.

71.        Question 21 requires a listing of all withdrawals from a partnership for the

benefit of an insider within the year immediately preceding the bankruptcy filing.   Attached to

the  Defendant'.s  answer  to  question   21   are  handwritten   accounts  constituting  records  of

Defendant's withdrawals.   The records do not appear to be maintained in the ordinary course

of Defendant's business and are apparently extracted from reeords of the Defendant's partnership

that were not provided to the Trustee.

72.       The handwritten records attached to Defendant's response to question 2l

show that the Defendant made a loan  to Lucking  of $2,000 on June  11,1992,  less than  five

months prior to the Defendant filing this bankruptcy.  Neither a debt owing from Lucking to the

Defendant if one exists,  nor the transfer was  scheduled or disclosed by  the Defendant.   The
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handwritten records also show that Defendant made a $100 loan to Lucking on August 26, 1992

and a $100 loan to Anissa Vuyk,  Defendant's daughter,  on July  15,  1992.   Neither loan was

scheduled   by the Defendant in his bankruptcy Schedules.

73.       The harsons' daughter made an $8co down-payment on a 1986 Mazda 323,

as well as one or two subsequent installment payments.   Thereafter,  Grethe harson has made

all  the  payments  for  the  purchase  of  the  1986  Mazda  323  from  her  bank  account.    The

Defendant has represented that the Mazda is his daughter's.

74.        The Defendant  did  not list on  his  Schedules  the obligation  he  owes  to

Chase Home Mortgage as the first trust deed holder on the Real Property.

75.       The Defendant's budget included  in  schedule J  shows  a $50 per month

payment on  a dental  obligation in  the total  amount of $1,000.    The Defendant did  not list a

corresponding debt on the Schedules to reflect this obligation.

76.       Item  l9  on Defendant's  schedule B  lists  Defendant's personal  property

interest  in  The  Dale  and  Grethe  I.arson  Irrevocable  Trust  created  on  November  27,  1991.8

Schedule 8 and the attachment thereto explain that the trust is a spendthrift trust created for the

benefit of the I.arsons with the Defendant's brother and sister-in-law, Douglas and Susan Lerson,

acting  as  trustors.    The  trust  was  created  within  one  year  of the  filing  of  the  Defendant's

bankruptcy petition on October 26,  1992.   There has been no disclosure that the trust was ever

8       The court flotes that the deeisiori of the state appellate court which upheld the judgment against

the Defendant on the guaranty but reversed and remanded on the issue of fraud was issued by the court in October,
1991, one lnonth after the trust was created.
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funded, and the Defendant's Financial Statement fails to list the transfer of any property to the

trust within the year before bankruptcy.

77.       The Defendant pays legal fees to Meyers and Meyers then pays the lawyer

that is working on the I.arsons'  or the Defendant's case.   Meyers also advances sums for and

on behalf of the Defendant to the lawyers that are working on the I,arsons' or the Defendant's

case.   As of the First Meeting of Creditors, the Defendant did not know who represented him

and Grethe I.arson  in the State Court proceeding and could only get in touch  with  the State

Court counsel through Meyers.

78.       The  Defendant  testified   on   his   own   behalf  and   the   court  had   the

opportunity to observe his demeanor.   The Defendant's answers were not straightforward and

he was generally unresponsive or evasive on the witness stand.   Defendant repeatedly answered

questions  posed  to  him  by  stating  that  he lacked  knowledge,  did  not  remember,  or  did  not

understand the questions.   In those areas where he did answer, his responses appeared coached.

The court  concludes  from  its  observations  that  the  Defendant's  testimony  generally  was  not

credible.      This   conclusion   is   further   supported   by   the  numerous  inconsistencies   in   the

Defendant's plcadings and other dcouments admitted into evidence by the Plaintiff.

Based upon the foregoing Findings of Fact, the court hereby enters the following

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

The jurisdiction  of this court is properly invoked under 28  U.S.C.  §§  157 and

1334 and by Rule 404 of the Rules of Practice of the United States District Court for the District

of Utah.  This matter is a core proceeding under 28 U.S.C.  §  157®)(2)(A), (J) and (0), and the

court may enter a final order.   Venue is proper in the Central Division of the District of Utah.
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The Plaintiff has the burden of proof in objecting to Defendant's discharge and

must prove the elements of § 727 by a preponderance of the evidence.   F!.rs/ Nl¢r}.oroJ Baut v.

Scrofl#7.  giv nc SeraJinz.J, 938 F.2d  1156,1157 (loth Cir.1991).

The Plaintiffs Amended Complaint filed on June 11, 1993, states four claims for

relief seeking to deny Defendant's discharge pursuant to Seetion 727(a) of the Bankruptcy Code.

The first and second claims for relief are based on § 727(a)(2)(A) and a).9

The  party  objeeting  to  dischange  pursuant  to  § 727(a)(2)  must  prove both  a

concealment and the requisite subjective intent to hinder,  delay,  or defraud a creditor.   Rase#

y. BczJ!er, 996 F.2d 1527,  1531  (3rd Cir.  1993).  Intent must be actual and fraudulent in nature.

Marine Midland Business Loans, Inc. v.  Carey  (In re Carey), 938 F.2d lor3,lorn  (1Orh air.

1991); 4»rerz.caH S¢VI.#gr a Lea# 4££'#.  v.  W;ber /7# nc  WcbcrJ,  99 B.R.1001,1017 @ankr.

D.  Utah. 1989)(holding that § 727(a)(2) requires not only a deliberate act,  but a specific intent

to harm).

Recognizing that debtors may be reluctant to reveal the motivation for a transfer,

courts  have  held  that intent to  conceal  property  may be  inferred  from  the debtor's  conduct.

Famcrf  Co-op.  dr5'#  tJ.  Sf"rfe,  671  F.2d  391,  395  (loth  Cir.   1982)("Fraudulent intent  of

9       Section 727(a)(2) provides:

(a)   The court shall grant a discharge, unless--

(2)   the debtor, with intent to hinder, delay, or defraud a creditor or an officer of the estate charged with
custody of property under this title, has transferred, removed, destroyed, mutilated. or concealed, or has perhitted
to be transferred, removed, destroyed, mutilated, or concealed---

(A)   property of the debtor, within one year before the date of the filing of the petition; or
0)   property of the estate, after the date of the filing of the petition; ....
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course may be established by circumstantial evidence, or by inferences drawn from a course of

conduct.").

To  determine if actual  intent  to  hinder,  delay,  or defraud  a Creditor  may  be

inferred, courts have applied certain indicia of fraud.   4/art.ne Mt.dhand Busz.ne£S Zoou, Jue.  v.

C¢ney  ¢#  re  Carry/,  938  F.2d  1073,  1077  (loth  Cir.   1991).    In  C¢ney  the  Tenth  Circuit

provided a nonexclusive list of actions from which fraudulent intent could be inferred.   Carry,

938 F.2d at 1077.   The following actions listed in  C¢ney are pertinent to this case:

a.          gratuitous transfers of property;

b.          concealment of prebankruptcy conversions ;

c.          continued use of property;

d.         transfers of property to family members;

C¢rey, 938 F.2d at 1077 (citations omitted).  Other indicia of fraud that the court may consider,

are that conversion  cocurred  after entry  of a large judgment against the debtor and that the

conversion  rendered  the debtor insolvent.    C¢rey,  938  F.2d at  1077,  n.  4.    In  this  case  the

transfer of the Real Property was just prior to the commencement of litigation with Overland,

and the transfer rendered the Debtor insolvent.

To demonstrate that a debtor concealed property pursuant to § 727(a)(2)(A), the

trustee  or  creditor is  not required  to  show  that the debtor literally  concealed  assets.    Umted

SJctcs v.  rowc  P# re rowc/,  147 B.R.  545, 548 @ankr.  D.  Mont.  1992);   See ¢Jfo Frz.cdcJJ v.

Haw;givtz# ¢" re K¢wjgivHJ, 675 F.2d 127,128 (7th Cir.  1981).   Concealment can be evidenced

by the debtor's transfer of legal title to property while retaining an equitable interest or control

in  the  property.    77!z.bodcour  v.  OJi.vi.cr  rrni  nc  OJz.vj.cr/,  819  F.2d  550,  553  (5th  Cir.   1987).
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Concealment is further evidenced when the dchtor continues to use, possess, and derive equitable

benefit from the property pulportedly transferred.   O/I.tu.er,  819 F.2d at 553-54.   The proper

fceus is "not the secrecy of the transfer but the retained beneficial interest that constitutes the

concealment."   Cullen Center Bank & Trust v. Ligh{fioot qn re Ligh{fioot),1S2 B.R.141,1464]

@ankr.  S.D. Tex.  1993) (citations omitted).

It is a well settled principle that the concealment of an asset that continues, with

the requisite intent, into the year before bankruptcy constitutes a form of concealment that occurs

within  one  year  before  the  date  of filing  of the  petition  for  the  purpose  of  § 727(a)(2)(A).

O/i.vz.er,  819  F.2d  at  555.    The  "continuing  concealment"  dcetrine  provides  that  an  initial

concealment of property that occurred outside the year before bankruptcy, but continued into that

year,  will  be  held  to  exist  within  the year before bankruptcy  for  the purpose  of denying  a

discharge pursuant to  § 727(a)(2)(A).   Rase#,  996 F.2d at  1531.

The party objeedng to discharge must prove that the requisite intent continued into

the year before bankruptcy, or in other words, the court must decide,  "why [the debtor] did not

reveal his secret interest in the property to his creditors during the year preceding bankruptcy. "

Rosc#,  996 F.2d at  1533.   Wrongful intent in falling to disclose voluntarily a concealed asset

cannot  be  negated  by  a  debtor's  subsequent  disclosure  when  disclosure  is  made  only  after

demand by the trustee.   Sfr#ut, 671 F.2d at 395-96.  In determining the intent of the Defendant,

the court may refer to and rely upon the conduct and circumstances  surrounding the transfer.

Based  upon  the  findings  of fact,  the  court  concludes  that  the  transfer  by  the

Defendant of the legal  title to the Real Property to  Systematic Builders,  and the Defendant's

subsequent acquiescence in  the transfer of the Real  Property from  Systematic Builders  to  his
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brother,  David  I.arson,  was  with  the  winful  intent  to  hinder,  delay  or  defraud  creditors.

Although the Defendant could not have formed a direst intent as to the second transfer from

Systematic Builders  to  David  ILarson,  Defendant's acquiescence   in  the transfer to  a family

member  for  no  consideration  shows  an  attempt  to  keep  continuing  control  over  the  Real

Property.   Though not exclusive, the court's conclusion is based upon the following:

a.          The Defendant retained and continued to have the possession, use,

benefit and enjoyment and control of the Real Property pulportedly transferred to Systematic

Builders.   The Defendant's use of the Real Property was no .different after the transfer than it

was before the transfer.

b.         The Defendant transferred the legal title to systematic Builders for

no consideration.

c.          The  Defendant  transferred  legal  title  to  the  Real  Property  to

Systematic Builders, an entity from which it might be suspected that the Defendant could retake

the property.   Systematic Builders appears to have been a manipulated corporation, directly or

indireetly, through the Defendant's legal counsel and advisors and asscoiates.   It was an entity

through which the Defendant or Grethe I.arson could control the disposition of the legal title to

the Real Property and from which they could have retaken legal title.

d.         The Defendant was insolvent before or was rendered insolvent due

to the transfer of the legal title to the Real Property.   The transfer occurred at a time when a

creditor  was  taking  steps  to  force  its  claim  against  property  and,  eventually,  against  the

Defendant personally.    The  transfer  of the  Real  Property  occurred  very  shortly  before  the

Defendant's  initiation  of litigation against the creditor in  an  attempt to prevent the creditor's
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collection efforts.   In addition,  the Iarsons  show a pattern of either transferring  or keeping

assets in Grethe Iarson's name.

e.         The Defendant and Grethe harson are the source for all payments

of indedtedness secured by the Real Property and taxes and insurance on the Real Property.

f.          The   transfer   of   the   Real   Property   to   Systematic   Builders

accomplished the transfer of legal title to the single significant asset of the Defendant.

The  transfer  of legal  title  by  the  Defendant  to  Systematic  Builders,  and  the

subsequent  transfer  of  legal  title  to  his  brother,  David  Iarson,  constitutes  evidence  of  a

concealment of property.   The concealment is further evidenced by Defendant's retention of an

equitable interest in the Real Property and his continued use and enjoyment of the Real Property

as  though  it  had  not  been  transferred.     Though  the  transfers  were  placed  of reeord,  and

Systematic Builders was listed as a plaintiff in the state court litigation, the Defendant and his

legal advisors failed to disclose the exact interest Systematic Builders had in the Real Property

in response to the state court motion for summary judgment to dismiss Systematic Builders from

the  litigation.    They  preferred  that Systematic  Builders  be  dismissed  rather  than  disclose  its

interest.     Since  both  Hunt  and  Meyers  were  involved  in  the  transfer,  and  were  also  the

Defendant's  legal  advisors  in  the  state  court  litigation,  the  Defendant's  concedment  of the

transfer is proved.]°  In spite of the recordation of the transfer to Systematic Builders, the court

finds  that  the  Defendant's  conduct evidences  a  concealment  of the  Real  Property  from  his

creditors.   The Defendant's failure to list Chase Home Mortgage as a creditor is a continuing

`°     Under the circumstances  of this case,  the Defendant's purported  reliance  on  the  advice of his

counsel was not in good faith and was not reasonable.
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attempt to hide. his interest in the Real Property from creditors and the Plaintiff following the

filing of Defendant' s bankruptey.

Concealment is considered to be a continuing concealment when the concealment

has continued  into the year prior to the filing of the Defendant's bankruptcy petition.    The

Defendant's concealment of property  began at the time of the transfer of legal title from the

Defendant to Systematic Builders, continued through the time of the transfer of legal title to the

Defendant's  brother,  David  I.arson,  and  has  continued  up  to  and  since  the  filing  of  the

Defendant's  bankruptcy  petition.     Although  the  Defendant  initially  hindered,   delayed  or

defrauded his creditors by transferring title to the Real Property while retaining a secret interest,

he later extended his actions to hinder, delay or defraud an officer of the estate by falling to list

his concealed interest in the Real Property, or the debt to Chase, on his bankruptcy Schedules.

This result is not inconsistent with Rore#,  because the Defendant's ability to control who holds

legal title to the Real Property is ample evidence of his retention of a secret interest in the Real

Property.   Rore#,  996 F.2d at  1532 ("A legally relevant concealment can exist,  however, only

if there  is,  in  fact,  some  secret  interest  in  the  property  retained  by  the  debtor.")  (citations

omitted).   Defendant's actions to hinder,  delay or defraud not only his creditors,  but also his

bankrupt.cy  Trustee,  brings  the actions  within  the  meaning  of  § 727(a)(2)  by  the continuing

concealment dcotrine.  The Defendant's discharge shall be denied pursuant to § 727(a)(2)(A) and

®).
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The Plaintiff's Amended  Complaint further alleges that nefendant's discharge

should be  denied  pursuant  to  § 727(a)(3).]]   Seetion  727(a)(3)  provides  as  a prerequisite  to

obtaining a discharge that a debtor must first supply an "accurate and complete account of his

financial affirs" or justify his fulure to do so.   „en.d!.ani Baut v. 4J/c#, 958 F.2d 1226,  1230

(3rd Cir.  1992).  The debtor must provide "available written evidence made and preserved from

which  the  present  financial  condition  of  the  [debtor],  and  his  business  transactions  for  a

reasonable  period  in  the  past  may  be  ascertained".    "crz.d!.¢#,  958  F.2d  at  1230  (citations

omitted).  A debtor who falls to keep records of his financial affairs must provide a satisfactory

explanation to justify his failure.   Mcn.dz.a7i,  958 F.2d at  1231.

The  Defendant  has  failed  to  produce  recorded  information  from  which  his

financial condition or business actions might be ascertained.    Under the circumstances of this

case,  such  fallure is without justification.   Although the Defendant testified  that he has never

kept records of his business, his testimony is inconsistent with the plcadings and exhibits in this

case  that  imply  that  Defendant  kept  reeorded  information.    Furthermore,  if  such  recorded

information  dces  exist,  and  the  detail  set  forth  in  the Defendant's  tax  returns  indicates  such

information must be available to provide to the tax preparer,  the Defendant has withheld such

information  from  the  Plaintiff who  is  entitled  to  receive  possession  under  Title  11  of  the

Bankruptcy  Code.    Indeed,  the Defendant has admitted  in  his pleadings  that he intentionally

!!       Section 727(a)(3) provides:

(a)   The court shall grant a discharge, unless---

(3)   the debtor has concealed,  destroyed, mutilated,  falsified, or failed to keep or preserve any recorded
informtion,  including books,  documents,  records,  and  papers,  from which  the  debtor's financial  condition or
business  transactions  might  be  ascertained,  unless  such  act  or  failure  to  act  was  justified  under  all  of  the
circumstances of the case;  ....
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0 withheld voluntary production of his financial records as an "incentive" to the Plaintiff to comply

with Defendant's discovery requests.   The court finds that the Defendant kept records and has

either  failed  to  preserve  these  records  or  has  concealed  them  from  the  Plaintiff  without

justification.   The Defendant shall be denied a discharge under § 727(a)(3).

ThePlaintiff'sAmendedComplaintalsoallegesthatDefendant'sdischargeshould

be denied pursuant to  § 727(a)(4)(A).!2   A debtor's omission  of assets  from his  Statement of

Financial Affairs or Schedules is sufficient to comprise a false oath pursuant to § 727(a)(4)(A).

Job v.  C¢ifer ¢ni re CoJderJ, 907 F.2d 953, 955 (loth Cir.  1990).  The false oath must be made

with willful intent to defraud and in relation to a material matter.   Ca#cr, 907 F.2d at 955; see

CfroJz.* v.  „ooneflc# P# re ChaJz.kJ, 748 F.2d 616, 618 (llth Cir.  1984)("The subjeet matter of

a false oath is  'material,' and thus sufficient to bar discharge,  if it bears a relationship to the

bankrupt' s business transactions or estate, or concerns the discovery of assets, business dealings,

or the existence  and  disposition  of his  property.").    In  C¢#er,  the Tenth  Circuit  stated  that

"fraudulent intent may be deduced from  the facts and circumstances  of a case."    Cazder,  907

F.2d at 956.

Section  541(a)(1) of the Bankruptcy  Code provides  that a  debtor's  estate  shall

consist of all legal and equitable interests of the dchtor in property.   This provision is reflected

in  the  language  of the  Schedules  that  each  debtor  is  required  to  complete  and  file with  the

'2      Section 727(a)(4)(A) provides:

(a)  The court shall grant the debtor a discharge, unless-

(4)   the debtor knowingly and froudulently, in or in cormeetion with the caLse---
(A)   made a false oath or account;  ....
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court.]3   The court finds in the circumstances of this case that the plain language of Schedule

A is sufficient to put this Defendant, even if pro se, on notice that he should have disclosed his

equitable interest in the Real Property evidenced by his continuing use and enjoyment of the

property over many years.14

The Defendant has retained, and at the date of ffing the bankruptcy petition had,

an equitable ownership interest in the Real Property that he did not list on his Schedules.   The

facts in this case and the totality of the circumstances presented go far beyond the Defendant's

falure to list his equitable interest in the Real Property.  At the date of filing Defendant also had

an  ownership interest in a  1986 GMC pickup truck and a partnership interest in Dale I,arson

Painting.   Defendant failed to list these assets in his Schedules.   The Defendant also failed to

list the debt owing to Chase on the Real Property.

The Defendant also failed to explain why he did not list as an asset the $2,000

loan Defendant made to Lucking on June 11, 1992, just over four months before Defendant filed

bankruptcy.   Defendant did not list either of the Sloo loans made to his daughter, Anissa Vuyk,

or  Lucking  on  July  15,  1992  and  August  26,  1992,  respectively.    Although  the  evidence  is

insufficient to determine if these receivables were owed as of the date of filing, neither did the

'3      Schedule A-Real Property states in part,  'list all real property in which the debtor has any legal,

equitable,  or future interest,  including all property o\uned  as a co-tenant,  cormuulty property,  or in which the
debtor has  a life estate.    hclude any property in which the debtor holds rights and powers exercisable  for the
debtor's own benefit. "

"     h so finding, the court declines to follow that portion of Caw#o" v.  Jiwpp,  ¢H rc Ca##o#/, Ch.

7 Case No.  87Ai)3213, Adv.  No.  87Apro765 @ankr.  D.  Ut.  Aug.  22,  1988)(transcript of oral ruling following
trial) that excuses both a debtor and his or her counsel  from determining whether the debtor holds a beneficial
interest in the debtor's home and listing such an interest in the debtor's schedules.   The court found, however, that
"the debtor, with the intent to hinder, delay or definud a creditor, has transferred and concealed the property of the

debtor,  [and]  that the concealment has continued until before and after the bankniptcy."  Cannon,  Aug.  22,1988
transcript at 6.   For this reason,  the court denied the debtor's discharge.
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Defendant explain the transactions.   'The Defendant also failed to explain or disclose charitable

transfers, or assets potentially transferred to the Dale and Grethe Iarson Irrevocable Trust within

one year  of filing  his petition.    The totality of the circumstances  including  the Defendant's

fiallure to  disclose his equitable interests  in  the Real  Property,  his  interest in  other personal

property, and his failure to disclose and schedule property and account for his assets, fiabilities

and financial affairs,  indicate the Defendant has made a false oath or account knowingly and

fraudulently in,  or in  connection with,  material matters in this bankruptcy case.    Due to the

Defendant's   false   oath   or   account,   the   Defendant   shall   be   denied   a   discharge   under

§727(a)(4)(A).15

The Defendant's argument that the state court judgment for $101,000 is void is

not well taken.  Defendant argues that Overland's election to foreclose and sell the Real Property

to satisfy the obligations under the Equipment I.ease precluded Overland from seeking any other

remedy,  including  a judgment  against  Defendant  on  Defendant's  failure  to  perform  on  his

guaranty of the Equipment I.ease.   Defendant asserts that Overland's judgment against him for

$101,OcO on the guaranty is void as an attempt to obtain a double recovery in violation of the

Utah one action rule because the foreclosure of the Deed of Trust on the Real Property and the

judgment on the guaranty arose from the same obligation.  Defendant cites as authority BawdeH

& drsoc!.4fcs v.  Smz.ffe, 646 P.2d 711  urtah 1982).   The court finds.that B¢wic# is not on point

because it dues not address the rights of a creditor vis-a-vis a guarantor.   See fLC Lz.mzted V v.

]5     There  is  an  argument  that  the  Tnistee  may  have  proved  a  claim  for  relief  under  section
727(a)(4)@) regarding the withholding of infomation from an officer of the estate.   The Tnistee neither pled such
a  claim nor made  a  motion to confom the pleadings  to  the evidence pursuant to  Federal  Rule of Bankniptcy
Procedure  7015@).     Accordingly,  the  court  will  not  address  the  issue  of  denial  of  discharge  under  section
727(a)(4)@).
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Bud/arid Gnowp Weff, Jne.  /SZ,CZ,i.mz.jed V/,  152 B.R. 755, 769 ainkr. D. Utah 1993)("rl|he

one-action rule dues not prevent a creditor on a dcht secured by real property from pursuing an

action against the guarantors based on the guarantee without first foreclosing on the seeurity''.).

The guaranty of a debt creates a separate contractual relationship giving rise to a distinct legal

right Outside the one action rule.   Defendant also disputes the $101,000 state court

judgment on the basis that the fiquidated damages were improperly calculated.   The evidence

dces not support that position.   The Defendant also raises a variety of arguments regarding the

constitutionality  of  the  state  court  judgment  that  are  not  well  taken.]6     Defendant  never

independently articulated a defense based on his belief that the state court judgment violated his

constitutional rights or was void or both, despite the fact that Defendant's legal advisors raised

such a defense in argument.   Nor did Defendant raise this defense in his testimony to explain

his intent at the time he signed his Financial Statement and Schedules under penalty of perjury.

Moreover, Defendant's arguments go to the validity of Overland's claim, an issue

that is not before the court."   Even if the  state court judgment for Slo1,000 was  void,  such

a decision would be irrelevant to a determination of Defendant's intent at the time he transferred

'6      Defendant's legal advisor, Morris Meyers, testified at trial that if the state courtjudgment is void

or constitutionally defective,  then the judgment is not entitled to full  faith and credit  in  the federal  courts.    No
evidence  has  been  produced  that  the  state  cout  did  not  grant  the  'minimum procedural  requirements  of the
Fourteenth Amendment's Due Process  Clause".   Xrcn¢e7.  v.  C7ieml.caJ Cousfr.  Coxp. ,  456 U.S.  461, 481  (1982).
Neither is there any evidence showing that the state court did not have personal or subject rmtterjurisdiction.  See
Feftzhaber v.  Feftzhaber,  681  F.2d  1015,  1020 (5th Cir. Unit 8  1982) ("[F]ull faith and credit will not be given a
judgment if the rendering court did not havejurisdiction over the parties and the subjeet "tter. "), con. de#j.ed, 464
U.S.  818 (1983).  Meyers also testified that he believed the validity of the state courtjudgment to be an "unrixed'
question of law not preeluded from collateral attack by the dcw3trine of res /.ndj.cafa, citing I/«f./ed SraJer v.  Moscr,
266 U.S.  236 (1924).

]7     The validity of Overland's claim would only have bearing on this proceeding if Civerland were

the Debtor's only creditor, and thus the only party to benefit from .the denial of Dchtor's discharge.   However, the
court notes that Debtor has listed in his Schedules other unsecured creditors with debts in excess of $22,000.
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the Real Property to Systematic Builders.   In addition, Defendant's intentional concealment of

assets from the Plaintiff at the time of his bankruptcy filing postdates the Overland judgment.

Even if Defendant believed that the Overland judgment violated his constitutional rights and that

it affeeted his deeision not to disclose information related to the Real Property, this argument

has no bearing what so ever on Defendant's failure to disclose other information in his Financial

StatementandSchedules,ortosatisfactorilyexplaindiscrepanciesbetweenDefendant'sFinancial

Statement and his tax returns.

In his Trial Brief, Defendant also argues at length that the Plaintiff cannot avoid

the transfer of the Real Property to Systematic Builders under the Trustee's strong arm powers

provided  in  § 544(a)(3).    Defendant  mistakes  the  issue  of whether  the  Plaintiff may  avoid

Defendant's transfer of the Real Property to Systematic Builders with the true issue before this

court:  whether the Defendant is entitled to a discharge of his debts pursuant to § 727(a).   The

Plaintiff has  not pled  for relief under  § 544(a)(3),  and  the  issue  of the Plaintiff's avoidance

power is not before the court in this adversary proceeding.

Wherefore,  the Plaintiff having carried his burden of proof on all issues and the

Defendant  having  failed  to  raise  any  credible  defenses,  judgment  will  issues  denying  the

DefendaLt'sdischargebasedoncachandeveryclalmforreliefsetforthinPlaintiff'scomplaint.

DATED this 2Z day of January,  1994.
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